CITY OF VAUGHAN

EXTRACT FROM COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 21, 2018

Item 1, Report No. 6, of the Committee of the Whole, which was adopted, as amended,
by the Council of the City of Vaughan on February 21, 2018, as follows:

By receiving Communication C3, from the Integrity Commissioner and Lobbyist
Registrar, dated February 15, 2018.

1 REPORT ON COUNCIL DECISION -
230 GRAND TRUNK AVENUE

The Committee of the Whole recommends:

1) That the recommendation contained in the following report of the City
Solicitor dated February 6, 2018, be approved;

2) That the presentation by the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. be
received;

3) That the deputation by Ms. Codruta Papoi, Maverick Crescent, Vaughan, be
received; and

4) That the following Communications be received:

C2 Mr. Furio Liberatore, The Friends of Grand Trunk Ravine, dated
January 31, 2018; and
C4. Mr. Richard T. Lorello, dated February 6, 2018.

Purpose

On June 27, 2017, Council directed as follows:

That the Council decision regarding 230 Grand Trunk Avenue referenced within the
context of the Integrity Commissioner’s Final Investigation Report be addressed in a
future report to Council that considers the issue of whether or not the inappropriate
influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted upon the decision.

In response, staff retained former Ontario Court of Appeal Justice, the Honourable
Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., who has prepared the attached report for Council’s
consideration.

Recommendations
1. That the report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., dated January 23,
2018 be received.

.2



CITY OF VAUGHAN
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Report Highlights

e The City’s Integrity Commissioner reported on a formal complaint relating to
the conduct of former Regional Councillor and Deputy Mayor Michael Di
Biase in respect of his actions related to the development proposal at 230
Grand Trunk Avenue

e Council directed a future report be submitted to Council considering if
inappropriate influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted
the decision

e The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., was retained to provide a report
in response to the Council direction which is attached

Background

On November 1, 2016, the City’s Integrity Commissioner received a formal complaint
relating to the conduct of former Regional Councillor and Deputy Mayor Michael Di Biase
in respect of his actions related to the development proposal at 230 Grand Trunk
Avenue.

The Integrity Commissioner’s report, submitted to Council for consideration at the
Council meeting of June 27, 2017, included a finding that the former Regional Councillor
attempted to improperly influence the decision of Council.

Following consideration of the Integrity Commissioner’s report, Council directed as
follows:

“That the Council decision regarding 230 Grand Trunk Avenue referenced within the
context of the Integrity Commissioner’s Final Investigation Report be addressed in a
future report to Council that considers the issue of whether or not the inappropriate
influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted upon the decision.”

In furtherance of Council’s direction, the City retained former Justice for the Ontario
Court of Appeal, the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., to review this matter and
prepare a report for Council’s consideration. Attached as Attachment 1 is the Report of
the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., dated January 23, 2018.

Previous Reports/Authority
Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of June 27, 2017

Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of February 21, 2017

OMB Decision dated March 9, 2016
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Analysis and Options
The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. will be in attendance at the Committee of the
Whole meeting to present his report and address any questions.

Financial Impact

The Office of the City Solicitor has a budget for external consultations. The retainer of
the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. did not require any changes to the existing
budget.

Broader Regional Impacts/Considerations
Not applicable

Conclusion

The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. will be in attendance at the Committee of the
Whole meeting to present his report in furtherance of Council’s direction of June 27,
2017. Itis recommended that the Report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C.
dated January 22, 2018 be received.

For more information, please contact: Claudia Storto, City Solicitor

Attachments

1. The Report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. dated January 23, 2018.

Prepared by
Claudia Storto, City Solicitor, extension 8315

(A copy of the attachments referred to in the foregoing have been forwarded to each
Member of Council and a copy thereof is also on file in the office of the City Clerk.)
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DATE: THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 15, 2018

TO: HONOURABLE MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

FROM: SUZANNE CRAIG, INTEGRITY COMMISSIONER and LOBBYIST REGISTRAR
RE: ITEM 1, REPORT 6 - COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE, FEBRUARY 6, 2018

REPORT ON COUNCIL DECISION - 230 GRAND TRUNK AVENUE

Following the submission and presentation of the Report of The Honourable Robert P.
Armstrong, Q.C. at Committee of the Whole on February 6, 2018, it has come to my attention
that there is a need to clarify the role of the Integrity Commissioner with respect to Code of
Conduct complaint investigations. In particular, it is important to consider the balance between
the duty of fairness owed to the Respondent to the complaint and the statutory duty of secrecy
which affords witnesses anonymity (in the discretion of the Integrity Commissioner).

In May

2016, the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, Divisional Court?, set out its view of the role

of the Integrity Commissioner. In so doing, the Court stated that:

The Integrity Commissioner is subject to a statutory scheme set out in the Municipal Act,
2001, $.0. 2001, c. 25 (“Municipal Act"), the Code of Conduct, the Complaint Protocol
for Council Code of Conduct (the “Complaint Protocol”) and the applicable City of
Vaughan policies and procedures.

The Integrity Commissioner is a statutory office created under the Municipal Act...and is
responsible for “performing in an independent manner the functions assigned by the
municipality” (s. 223.3) with respect to the application of codes of conduct for members
of council.

[..]

The Integrity Commissioner and her staff are subject to a statutory duty of confidentiality
under the Municipal Act:
223.5 (1) The Commissioner and every person acting under the instructions of
the Commissioner shall preserve secrecy with respect to all matters that come to
his or her knowledge in the course of his or her duties under this Part.

Following an investigation, the Integrity Commissioner “reports to the municipality...his
or her opinion about whether a member of Council has contravened the applicable code
of conduct...” (Municipal Act, 223.6(2))

s
145

i Biase v. Vaughan (City); Integrity Commissioner of the City of Vaughan (2016), 2016 ONSC 5620, 2016 CarswellOnt
68 (Ont. Div.Ct.) at paras. 12, 13, 17, and 18
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In explaining the significance of the secrecy provisions set out in section 223.5 of the Municipal
Act, the Court stated:
This section recognizes that when deciding how much information must be disclosed,
the Integrity Commissioner may take into account specific local concerns associated
with such disclosure that require confidentiality or protection of informants’ identities.

In respect of the case before it, the Court applied those principles and determined that the
Integrity Commissioner appropriately exercised her discretion authorized by statute, in a manner
that properly balanced the Respondent’s right to meaningfully comment on the allegations in the
complaint with the obligations of secrecy.

The statutory scheme creating the Office of the Integrity Commissioner is firmly entrenched in
the tradition of the law that requires openness and transparency. However, the names of
withesses may be withheld to protect whistle-blowers whose identity is confirmed and credibility
is assessed by the Integrity Commissioner. The inclusion of the statutory provision of secrecy
was a deliberate choice of the legislature to create an Accountability regime that satisfies the
requirements of due process while protecting individuals who are willing to hold members of
municipal council responsible for apparent violations of the Code of Conduct.

As underscored by the Divisional Court, an administrative body that investigates and makes
recommendations, such as those made by the Integrity Commissioner, must disclose the
substance of the allegations. However, regard should be given to the fundamental rule
explained by the Supreme Court of Canada (and cited by the Divisional Court that:

...[tIhe investigating body is...the master of its own procedure. It need not hold a
hearing...It need not allow lawyers. It need not put every detail of the case against a
man. Suffice it if the broad grounds are given. It need not name its informants. It can
give the substance only.

Respectfully submitted,
s

%nne Craig

Integrity Commissioner and Lobbyist Registrar
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Dear Councillor Racco,

This letter is in response to the findings of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong. This report
affects the Friends of Grand Trunk Ravine (“The Friends”). The Friends are a residents’ group
within Block 18 in your ward. We have been very involved in the development application
that pertains to Mr. Armstrong’s report.

The families that make up this residents group lead very busy lives and have to be at work
during Mr. Armstrong’s presentation to Council on February 6, 2018 at 1 pm to Committee of
the whole. The Deputy City Manager informed me that deputations can be made but
questions cannot be brought forward. | understand and accept this process, but would like to
point out some concerns of the families that were directly affected by this investigation.

I have read Mr. Armstrong’s report and would like to put forth to you a few questions for
clarification. We also understand that members of council can put questions forward to Mr.
Armstrong. We hope you can pass these questions on to him for our group.

On Pg.3 Par.6 - He states, “Although [ note at the outset that | am not bound by the same
statutory and Code of Ethical Conduct (the “Code”) obligations that constrained the
Commissioner in the preparation of the IC Report.”

Why was Mr. Armstrong’s investigation approach different? If the Integrity Commissioner’s
findings were founded on the basis of the code of conduct then wouldn’t his findings differ
from the Integrity Commissioner’s investigation?

On Pg.4 Par.13 — He states, “that City Council approved the settlement at least in principle on
a very narrow vote, against the recommendations of City planning staff.”

This raises concerns with the residents. Planning staff brought forward a recommendation to
not support the settlement and council voted against it. | am sure that the Planning staff
based their recommendation on research and technical papers that supported their findings.
What information did council base their vote on? The last time | checked, | do not think that
anyone on council is a Planner, Hydro Geologist or an Ecologist. The City is structured as a
corporation and has supporting staff, such as Planners. A recommendation based on fact
presented to a council assists them to make the best and most accurate decision. It speaks
volumes that the majority of council went against the advice of planning staff. Secondly, was
the planning staff compromising their code of ethics when they were directed by council to
work with the applicant to settle?

On Pg.5 Par.16 — He States, “Also in attendance to support the Settlement was the head of the
Eagle Hills Community Association, Mr. Peter Badali. Four individual neighbourhood residents
were also allowed to participate in the hearing, all of whom opposed the Settlement.”

RECEIVED
FEB -4 2018
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Many residents of Princess Isabella, Lady Bianca Courts, and Maverick Cres. were not
informed of the October 14, 2015 OMB hearing and didn’t know wha Peter Badali was. It was
with great shock that Mr. Badali was in support of the settlement without asking a single
resident that backs onto the subject lands.

On Pg.6 Par.21 — He states, "On September 29, 2016, however, the Owner exercised its rights
under the Planning Act to appeal both its Zoning Application and its Subdivision Application to
the OMB, as more than 120 and 180 days had passed since the filing of each application,
respectively, and no final decision had yet been made by City Council (the “Second OMB
Appeal”}. A 3-day hearing was scheduled to commence on March 22, 2017."

In all fairness to the City Planning Department, how could a final decision have been made on
an application that is incomplete due to studies and reports that are still due by the
applicant?

On Pg.12 Par.31 -~ He states, “l concluded that if | failed to consider the ful picture, my Report
would be open to the criticism that it was too narrowly focused.”

The residents believe that after reading this report that he did fail to consider the full picture.
An investigation like this one should include all parties involved. There is no mention of
residents being interviewed. There are other people that were employed by the city that we
believe should have been contacted, Before Claudia Storto, Dawn jubb was acting council for
the city on this file and there is no mention of her in the report.

On Pg.15 Par.46 — He states, “f emphasize that contrary to what some may have anticipated,
the scope of my retainer pursuant to Council’s Resolution does not include an inquiry into all
aspects of the Development, nor to engage in a review or re-evaluation of the IC Report.”

The residents interpret this statement that he, himself believes that this is an incomplete
report due to the limit of the scope that was presented to him. We also believe that he
should have been able and have access to all aspects of the development. Why was his scope
SO narrow?

On Pg.16 Par.48 — He states, “Without exception, the members of City Council advised me that
Mr. Di Biase had no influence on them in respect of their decision-making related to the
Development. Nothing that Mr. Dj Biase said or did swayed their decisions one way or
another.”

I refer to the narrow in camera 5-4 vote that went against staff's recommendation. What the
residents take away from this statement is, the 5 Councillors were not influence by Mr. Di
Biase, however this indicates that they willingly went against the recommendations of staff,
which s even more troubling to residents.
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On Pg.16 Par.49 - He states, "Rather, the Councillors affirmed that they come to their own
conclusions in respect of any given decision that is before them, including all decisions relating
to the Development. In the case of planning matters such as the Development, the Councillors
advised me that they typically receive information and recommendations from City planning
staff. When an OMB appeal is at stake, Councillors also receive advice from City legal staff.”

This only reinforces the fact that there was more reason for Mr. Armstrong to interview Dawn
Jubhb and current council of Claudia Storto. Why were they not interviewed?

Pg.16 Par.51 — He states, “In particular, | am satisfied that Mr. Di Blase’s misrepresentation of
the TRCA’s position to City Council {as found in the IC Report) did not influence any members
of City Council. Based on the information provided to me by multiple interviewees, it is clear
that members of City Council did not rely on Mr. Di Biase for their information as to what the
TRCA’s position was in respect of any given development project.”

Mr. Armstrong is satisfied that Mr. DiBiase did misrepresent the TRCA's position to Council. |
find it difficult that a Councillor would be willing admit that he or she has been influenced.
This would obviously expose a Councillor to a great degree of incompetence. To expect an
admission is wishful thinking.

Pg.17 Par.53 — He states, “The Commissioner found that this was a misrepresentation of the
City’s position. Accepting that finding, | am nevertheless satisfied that any member of Council
would have known that it was a misrepresentation, because Mr. Di Biase’s fellow Councillors
would have understood whether the City’s hands were actually tied or not. As such, it is highly
unlikely that other members of City Council would have been influenced in this manner.”

We know that the scope of the investigation was if Michael DiBiase influenced Council,
nevertheless this statement misleads the residents. This was basically Michael Dibiase’s
attempt to take the resident’s focus off of the City Councillors and point blame to the TRCA.
The residents now know that the TRCA is just and advisory board to the City of Vaughan.

Pg.17 Par.54 - He states, “According to the information provided to me by TRCA officials, the
TRCA was surprised to learn about City Council’s decision made during the June 23, 2015 in
camera meeting to co-operate with the Owner in respect of the First OMB Appeal.”

This statement further proves that Council made the wrong decision. Council now has two
separate advisory boards telling them that they made the wrong decision to settle.

Pg.20 Par.64 - He states, “City Council’s reasons for voting this way in the face of significant
public opposition are again, varied. Seme Councillors who opposed the initial decision to
approve the Settlement in june 2015 ultimately voted in favour of proceeding with the
Devefopment in February 2017. They did so not because of a lack of public opposition, but
rather because they viewed that the “ship had sailed” with the OMB’s decision on the First
OMB Appeal. With the Property having been re-designated by the OMB in the Official Plan, it
only made sense to defer to planning staff's recommendations to bring the draft plan of
subdivision and zoning by-law in line with the Official Plan. As indicated above, the planning
staff report that was approved by City Council in February 2017 contains a lengthy list of
technical and environmental conditions that must be satisfied by the Owner.”
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Council voted 8-1 to adopt the report by the planning department. The planning staff was
directed (forced) by Council to put together a report that supported the development. To
state that the “ship has sailed” is a cop out. Of course the “ship has sailed”, Council didn’t
“tie the Ship to the dock.” Council failed the first time around with the in camera vote on the
first appeal.

This report only reaffirms that the attempt was there on the part of Micheal Di Biase to
influence. If other Councillors stated that they were not influenced they must admit that they
recognized that he was attempting to. My question is why other Councillors did not report
this disturbing event?

The residents also want to state for the record that this report does not exonerate Michael Di
Biase in any way. The residents hope that Council will not try to spin this report in his favour.
We also want to note that as much as we want to appreciate Mr. Armstrong’s effort putting
this report forward, we must note that he too admitted that his scope was very narrow. With
that said he was unable to fulfill the task at hand.

Lastly, | hope all the parties involved; Councillors, Staff, TRCA and residents can learn from
this and let the supporting staff that council has at their disposal to do their jobs. Take the
advice given to them and lead this forward thinking City that we call home to a better place.

Respectfully,
Furio Liberatore

The Friends Cf Grand Trunk Ravine.
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Britto, John
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From: Furio Liberatore <N INREEN >

Sent: Sunday, February 4, 2018 6:58 PM

Ta: Racca, Sandra

Ce: Carella, Tony; DeFrancesca, Rosanna; lafrate, Marilyn; Ferri, Mario; Bevilacqua, Maurizio;

McEwan, Barbara; Shefman, Alan; Rosati, Gino; Singh, Sunder; Clerks@vaughan.ca; Noor
Javed, Tim Kelly; Craig, Suzanne; David Donnelly

Subject: February 6, Committee of the Whole Re; Armstrong Report

Attachments: February & Committee of the Whole  Armstrong Report1.pdf

Helio Councillor Yueng Racco,

Please see the attached and accepf this letter that explains our thoughts of the Armstrong Report. The residents group
express concerns and questions that we drew from this report.

We are requesting that you as our Councillor will pose questions on our behalf that you will find in our letier.

Thanking you in advance for your help.

Furio Liberatore p: (R - SRS
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/
Mayor, Members of Council and City Manager [TEM-

| have taken the opportunity to review the report compiled by the former Ontario Court
of Appeals Justice, Honourable Robert P. Armstrong regarding the issue of Mr. Di
Biase's influence as it pertains to 230 Grand Trunk. Since | will not be able to attend the
February 6 Committee of the Whole meeting in person, | have compiled a list of
questions and concerns that | would like addressed at the meeting.

My involvement and interest in 230 Grand Trunk spans several years and | have
previously provided Council with my concerns with respect to the 230 Grand Trunk
development, by way of letters and deputations. | have also provided material to the
Integrity Commissioner that | believed were relevant to the Integrity Commissioner's
investigation on the same subject matter.

Question 1:

During the course of the Integrity Commissioner's investigation, | personally provided
material and information regarding 230 Grand Trunk that | believed was relevant to the
Integrity Commissioner’s investigation. | believe that the Integrity Commissioner
considered, referred to and relied upon that material during the course of her
investigation and for her report. It is not clear from the report whether or not Mr.
Armstrong had access to that material or any of the Integrity Commissioner's evidence
during the course of Mr. Armstrong's investigation.

« Can council please confirm through Mr. Armstrong or through the Integrity
Commissioner whether or not Mr. Armstrong was given direct access to the
Integrity Commissioner's evidence and whether or not that evidence was used by
Mr. Armstrong in his investigation?

Question 2:

Mr. Armstrong's report lists several individuals that he interviewed during the course of
his investigation. The City of Vaughan had assigned a lawyer to the 230 Grand Trunk
file, however | do not see any indication that the lawyer was on Mr. Armstrong’s list of
people interviewed. The individual in question would have been intimately involved with
the 230 Grand Trunk file and no doubt would have had material knowledge of how the
file was being managed.

» Can Council please confirm whether or not the City of Vaughan solicitor was
interviewed and whether or not her input was used by Mr. Armstrong in his report
and did Mr. Armstrong possibly interview the lawyer in question on the basis of
anonymity?



Concern 1:

The questions that | have posed in this email form the basis of my concerns. If Mr.
Armstrong did not see or review any of the Integrity Commissioner's evidence and if the
City of Vaughan lawyer assigned to 230 Grand Trunk was not interviewed by Mr.
Armstrong then | would have to conclude that the value of Mr. Armstrong's report is
limited and it raises concerns regarding lack of substance and completeness.

Furthermore, if the Integrity Commissioner's evidence was not used and the City of
Vaughan lawyer was not interviewed by Mr. Armstrong, it would also indicate that the
Integrity Commissioner's report is based on information that is much broader and much
more in depth than Mr. Armstrong's report. In short, | am concerned that Mr.
Armstrong's report is not based on all the available evidence and testimony. If this is the
case then logically Mr. Armstrong's report cannot carry the same weight as the Integrity
Commissioner's report.

Concern 2:

Mr. Armstrong states that Members of Council approved the 230 Grand Trunk
settlement "against the recommendations of City of Vaughan's planning

staff". This is a very small, but very important detail that residents of Grand Trunk have
been seeking the answer to. The question as to what city planning staff's position with
respect to 230 Grand Trunk was has now been answered.

In effect, those Members of Council who voted against the recommendations of staff
and also against the wishes of the Grand Trunk area residents, made a political
decision rather than a decision based on professional planning recommendations. My
concern here is that if Members of Council did not vote in the interest of proper planning
advice and did not vote in the interest of the local residents, then in whose interest did
they make their decision?

Concern 3:

Based on the interviews that Mr. Armstrong held with Members of Council, Mr.
Armstrong states that Members of Council claimed that they were not influenced by Mr.
Di Biase's in any way. This raises concerns that those Members of Council who voted in
favor of the settlement, along with Mr. DiBiase and against the recommendations of
planning staff, did so willingly and were fully aware that the implications of their vote
would cause harm to the Grand Trunk local area residents in the form of lost green
space, home equity and eventually a potential costly legal fight at the Ontario Municipal
Board. My concern with this is that perhaps rather than being influenced by Mr. Di
Biase, were those Members of Council who voted in favor of the settlement acting
willingly with Mr. Di Biase?

Sincerely
Richard T. Lorello
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Committee of the Whole Report

DATE: Tuesday, February 06, 2018 WARD(S): 4

TITLE: REPORT ON COUNCIL DECISION —
230 GRAND TRUNK AVENUE

FROM:
Claudia Storto, City Solicitor

ACTION: FOR INFORMATION

Purpose

On June 27, 2017, Council directed as follows:

That the Council decision regarding 230 Grand Trunk Avenue referenced within the
context of the Integrity Commissioner’s Final Investigation Report be addressed in a
future report to Council that considers the issue of whether or not the inappropriate
influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted upon the decision.

In response, staff retained former Ontario Court of Appeal Justice, the Honourable
Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., who has prepared the attached report for Council’s
consideration.

Recommendations
1. That the report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., dated January 23,
2018 be received.




Report Highlights

e The City’s Integrity Commissioner reported on a formal complaint relating to
the conduct of former Regional Councillor and Deputy Mayor Michael Di
Biase in respect of his actions related to the development proposal at 230
Grand Trunk Avenue

e Council directed a future report be submitted to Council considering if
inappropriate influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted
the decision

e The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., was retained to provide a report
in response to the Council direction which is attached

Background

On November 1, 2016, the City’'s Integrity Commissioner received a formal complaint
relating to the conduct of former Regional Councillor and Deputy Mayor Michael Di
Biase in respect of his actions related to the development proposal at 230 Grand Trunk
Avenue.

The Integrity Commissioner’s report, submitted to Council for consideration at the
Council meeting of June 27, 2017, included a finding that the former Regional Councillor
attempted to improperly influence the decision of Council.

Following consideration of the Integrity Commissioner’s report, Council directed as
follows:

“That the Council decision regarding 230 Grand Trunk Avenue referenced within the
context of the Integrity Commissioner’s Final Investigation Report be addressed in a
future report to Council that considers the issue of whether or not the inappropriate
influence found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted upon the decision.”

In furtherance of Council’s direction, the City retained former Justice for the Ontario Court
of Appeal, the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., to review this matter and prepare
a report for Council's consideration. Attached as Attachment 1 is the Report of the
Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C., dated January 23, 2018.

Previous Reports/Authority
Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of June 27, 2017

Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of February 21, 2017

OMB Decision dated March 9, 2016

Analysis and Options
The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. will be in attendance at the Committee of
the Whole meeting to present his report and address any questions.



https://www.vaughan.ca/council/minutes_agendas/AgendaItems/SPCW0627_17_1.pdf
https://www.vaughan.ca/council/minutes_agendas/AgendaItems/CW0207_17_5.pdf
file://vfs2/Corpshare$/Common/VOP2010/Documents/Board%20Orders%20and%20Decisions/2016%2003%2009%20Decision%20re%20PHC%20Oct%2014%2015%20re%20Dufferin%20Vistas.pdf

Financial Impact

The Office of the City Solicitor has a budget for external consultations. The retainer of
the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. did not require any changes to the existing
budget.

Broader Regional Impacts/Considerations
Not applicable

Conclusion

The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. will be in attendance at the Committee of
the Whole meeting to present his report in furtherance of Council’s direction of June 27,
2017. Itis recommended that the Report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C.
dated January 22, 2018 be received.

For more information, please contact: Claudia Storto, City Solicitor

Attachments

1. The Report of the Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C. dated January 23,
2018.

Prepared by
Claudia Storto, City Solicitor, extension 8315




| ATTACHMENT 1 |

REPORT OF THE HONOURABLE ROBERT P. ARMSTRONG, Q.C.
REGARDING THE IMPACT OF THE INAPPROPRIATE INFLUENCE AS FOUND IN THE
REPORT OF THE INTEGRITY COMMISSIONER OF THE CITY OF VAUGHAN
DATED JUNE 27, 2017

JANUARY 23, 2018
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Introduction and Executive Summary

1. This Report was requested by the Council of the City of Vaughan (“City Council”)
as a result of the Final Report of the Integrity Commissioner of the City of Vaughan (the
“Commissioner”) dated June 27, 2017 (the “IC Report”)!. In the IC Report, the
Commissioner concluded that former Regional Councillor and Deputy Mayor Michael Di
Biase engaged in conduct that constituted improper use of influence in breach of Rule 7
of the Code of Ethical Conduct, in the context of decisions made regarding a property

known as 230 Grand Trunk Avenue (the “Property”).

2. At a Council Meeting on June 27, 2017, City Council adopted a recommendation of

the Special Committee of the Whole as follows:

That the Council decision regarding 230 Grand Trunk Avenue
referenced within the context of the Integrity Commissioner’s Final
Investigation Report be addressed in a future report to Council that
considers the issue of whether or not the inappropriate influence
found in the Integrity Commissioner’s report impacted upon the
decision

3. This resolution of City Council (“Council’s Resolution”) is the basis of my current
mandate. On September 22, 2017, | was formally retained by City of Vaughan legal staff
to review City Council’s decision regarding a planning matter in respect of the Property,

with reference to Council’s Resolution and the IC Report.

4. Having completed the review contemplated in my retainer, | have prepared this
Report for delivery to City of Vaughan legal staff and, ultimately, for presentation to City

Council.

! Code of Conduct Complaint #110116(f) Investigation Report in Respect of Former Regional Councillor/Deputy
Mayor Michael Di Biase, dated June 27, 2017.



5. In conducting my review, | have interviewed City Councillors and other officials
with first-hand knowledge of the events in issue, and | have been provided with a

significant volume of documents.

6. | have endeavoured to respect the sensitive and sometimes confidential nature of
the information that | have been asked to review, although | note at the outset that | am
not bound by the same statutory and Code of Ethical Conduct (the “Code”) obligations

that constrained the Commissioner in the preparation of the IC Report.
7. This Report addresses the following:

e Part 1: a brief chronology describing the recent background facts and events
surrounding the development of the Property (the “Development”), which

ultimately led to the IC Report and Council’s Resolution;

e Part 2: a description of the scope of my review, including my consideration as
to what “decision” of City Council may have been impacted by the improper
influence found in the IC Report and a summary of the interviews and

materials that formed part of my review;

e Part 3: my findings in respect of the impact, if any, of Mr. Di Biase’s conduct

on the decision of City Council in respect of the Development.

8. My report does not address the planning issues that were previously or are
presently before the Ontario Municipal Board (“OMB”) and in particular the various
planning concerns that have been expressed by neighbouring land owners and others.

Those matters obviously fall properly within the jurisdiction of the OMB.

9. Based on my analysis of all the information gathered during my review, | have
concluded that any improper influence exerted by Mr. Di Biase (as found in the IC Report)

did not impact the decisions of City Council in respect of the Development.



Part 1 - Background

10. The history of the Development dates back many years. For the purposes of this
Report, and based on information collected from my interviews and related documents,

| have set out only the more recent, relevant history.

i.  The First OMB Appeal

11. The relevant background commences when, as part of the Vaughan Official Plan
2010, the Property was designated as “Natural Areas”, a designation that prevented
virtually all development. InJune 2012, the previous owner of the Property, Mr. Eugene
lacobelli, commenced an appeal to the OMB in respect of this designation (the “First
OMB Appeal”). For several years, Mr. lacobelli’s efforts to develop the Property and to
push forward his appeal at the OMB were unsuccessful in the face of opposition from

residents, the City, and the Toronto and Region Conservation Authority (“TRCA”)2.

12. In April 2015, following the death of Mr. lacobelli, the Property was purchased by
the current owners, Dufferin Vistas Ltd., a company affiliated with the prominent Milani
family of developers (the “Owner”). The Owner took over carriage of the First OMB

Appeal to re-designate the Property.3

13. Soon after taking carriage of the First OMB Appeal, the Owner proposed a
settlement to City officials in respect of the First OMB Appeal. This settlement was
considered by City Council at an in camera meeting on June 23, 2015. Although | have
been provided with only limited information regarding what took place at this meeting,
what is clear is that City Council approved the settlement at least in principle on a very

narrow vote, against the recommendations of City planning staff. City staff was then

2 |n particular, the TRCA was granted party status at the OMB in respect of this matter in September 2013.

3| was advised by several interviewees that prior to the Owner’s acquisition of the Property, other interested
developers had approached members of City Council, City staff, and TRCA officials to inquire as to the
development prospects of the Property. Upon being advised of the planning and environmental difficulties that
would face any developer, these interested parties proceeded no further, leaving the Owner as the only developer
to ultimately acquire the Property and make a concrete development proposal to City Council.



directed to work towards minutes of settlement in advance of the scheduled hearing on

the First OMB Appeal.

14. Over the summer of 2015, the TRCA also considered its position regarding the
proposed settlement.* On July 24, 2015, the TRCA Authority resolved to re-affirm the
TRCA’s party status before the OMB, and directed its staff to work towards a settlement
with the City of Vaughan, the Owner, and other parties “to ensure that the requirements
of The Living City Policies, TRCA’s Ontario Regulation 166/06, [...] Oak Ridges Moraine

Conservation Plan (ORMPC) and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) are met”.>

15. In the result, the City of Vaughan, the Owner, and the TRCA ultimately agreed on
a settlement in respect of the First OMB Appeal (the “Settlement”). The result of this
Settlement, if approved by the OMB, would be to re-designate certain parts of the
Property from “Natural Areas” to “Low-Rise Residential” and “Low-Rise Residential
Special Study Area”. The Settlement also called for the Owner to complete a set of plans
and studies to the satisfaction of the City, in consultation with the TRCA, prior to the start

of any site alteration or development.

16. Atthe hearing before the OMB on October 14, 2015, representatives from the City,
the TRCA and the Owner appeared in support of the Settlement. Also in attendance to
support the Settlement was the head of the Eagle Hills Community Association, Mr. Peter
Badali. Four individual neighbourhood residents were also allowed to participate in the

hearing, all of whom opposed the Settlement.

17. On March 9, 2016, the OMB released its decision, approving the Settlement and

re-designating the Property as provided for in the Settlement.®

4 The subject of the IC Report, Mr. Di Biase, had a seat on the TRCA and served as Vice-Chair. As discussed further
below, the IC Report concludes that Mr. Di Biase used his influence as both a member of City Council and of the
TRCA to misrepresent the positions of both entities, both to each other and to the public.

5 This Resolution #A142/15 was passed by the TRCA Authority in a closed session on July 24, 2015. The Resolution
was subsequently made part of the public record at a later TRCA Authority meeting on May 27, 2016.

62016 CanLll 13042 (ON OMB).



ii. The Second OMB Appeal

18. Even before the OMB approved the Settlement, the Owner continued to move the
development process forward. In January 2016, the Owner submitted an application for
approval of a new draft plan of subdivision (the “Subdivision Application”). On April 5,
2016, a Public Hearing in respect of the Subdivision Application was held by City Council.
At this Public Hearing, City Council approved various recommendations from City
planning staff, and resolved that a community meeting “be organized by the local ward
Councillor with the [Owner], residents and appropriate City staff to address issues

raised”.

19. This community meeting was held on May 2, 2016. In attendance were various City
Councillors. The IC Report focuses on specific comments made by Mr. Di Biase at this

meeting, namely that the “City’s hands were tied” in respect of the Property.

20. Separately, on April 25, 2016, the owner submitted an application for zoning by-
law amendments in respect of the property (the “Zoning Application”). Together with
the Subdivision Application, the Zoning Application was necessary for the Development
to proceed. Over the ensuing months, the Owner revised its applications at various times,
in response to public concerns,” and some of the studies contemplated as part of the

approved Settlement were completed.

21. On September 29, 2016, however, the Owner exercised its rights under the
Planning Act to appeal both its Zoning Application and its Subdivision Application to the
OMB, as more than 120 and 180 days had passed since the filing of each application,
respectively, and no final decision had yet been made by City Council (the “Second OMB

III

Appeal”). A 3-day hearing was scheduled to commence on March 22, 2017.

7 For example, the initial plan of subdivision called for 105 townhouse units. By July 2016, the Owner’s revised
proposal called for a phased approach, starting with a Phase 1 development of 32 single detached homes on the
less environmentally sensitive western portion of the Property.



22. As was the case in the context of the First OMB Appeal, the TRCA continued to be
involved in these proceedings. On June 8, 2016, the TRCA sent a letter to area residents
assuring them that “we will continue to protect TRCA’s interests and carry out our
regulatory mandate as the development process progresses”. At the TRCA Authority
meeting on January 27, 2017, the TRCA adopted a resolution in respect of the Second
OMB Appeal similar to what had been adopted in respect of the First OMB Appeal.
Specifically, the TRCA resolved that it would obtain legal counsel and appear at the
Second OMB Appeal, and staff was directed “to continue to work towards a settlement”
with the City, the Owner and other parties to ensure compliance with the various

relevant environmental policies and regulations.

23. At a meeting on February 21, 2017, in advance of the scheduled OMB hearing
dates, City Council approved a report of City planning staff, which called for the approval
in principle of the Subdivision Application and the Zoning Application, subject to a lengthy

list of technical and environmental conditions.

24. Ultimately, the scheduled hearing dates in March 2017 before the OMB were
adjourned, and the OMB scheduled 15 days of hearings set to commence on January 15,
2018 in respect of the Owner’s proposed applications. The length of the hearing was
deemed necessary in light of the number of parties and residents that were granted

standing by the OMB.

iii. TheICReport

25. Against the backdrop of events described above, on November 1, 2016, the
Commissioner received a formal complaint in respect of then Regional Councillor and

Deputy Mayor, Michael Di Biase.

26. The complaint alleged that Mr. Di Biase had contravened Rule No. 7 of the Code

(Improper Use of Influence) in his capacity as a member of City Council and as a member



of the TRCA. The complainant alleged this improper use of influence took place during

the following specific events:®

a. The June 23, 2015 in camera meeting of City Council, when the proposed

settlement of the First OMB Appeal was considered.

e The complaint alleges that at this meeting, Mr. Di Biase advised City
Council that he was aware of “the discussions at the TRCA and
represented that [the TRCA] had no outstanding concerns about the
[development of the Property]”.° The complaint also “alleges that [Mr.
Di Biase] suggested that the TRCA would likely withdraw its objection to

the development”.1°

b. The April 5, 2016 public hearing of City Council, when the Subdivision

Application was first considered.

e The IC Report does not specify what exactly Mr. Di Biase is alleged to

have said or done at this meeting in contravention of the Code.
c. The May 2, 2016 community meeting convened by the City.

e The complaint alleges that Mr. Di Biase made statements at this meeting

to the effect that “the City’s hands were tied” in respect of the Property.
d. Various 2016 meetings of the TRCA board.

e The complaint alleges that at various times, Mr. Di Biase attempted to
convince his fellow TRCA board members that the City of Vaughan “had
dealt with it”, referring to the development of the Property, and that the

TRCA should therefore withdraw from the proceedings.

81C Report, pages 2-3.
%1C Report, pages 3 and 7.
10|C Report, pages 3 and 7.



27. As part of her investigation, the Commissioner interviewed numerous individuals.
The identities of these individuals, and the specific evidence they gave, is not described
in the IC Report. The identity of the complainant and the formal complaint itself is
similarly kept confidential. The Commissioner also reviewed various “public and

confidential City documents, emails, audio and video recordings of meetings and certain

other materials”.*!

28. Mr. Di Biase was given a chance to respond to the complaint itself, and to a
preliminary version of the Commissioner’s final report. In general, Mr. Di Biase denied
that he exerted any improper influence, and he disputed the chronology of events as laid

out in the complaint and the preliminary report.

29. Ultimately, the Commissioner accepted the facts as alleged by the complainant. In

particular, she concluded as follows: 2

“[O]n a balance of probabilities, [Mr. Di Biase] engaged in conduct
that constituted improper use of influence and a breach of Rule 7.

[...] I had the opportunity to review audio and video recorded
meetings including an audio recording of [Mr. Di Biase’s] remarks
at the May 2, 2016 meeting. [Mr. Di Biase’s] recorded remarks
contradict his evidence with respect to his comment about the
“City’s hands being tied”. In fact, this comment directly followed
his representation that the TRCA had decided to settle with the
Owner.

This representation was not accurate. As indicated in its letter of
June 8, 2016, the TRCA continued to have concerns about the
proposed development. Despite [Mr. Di Biase’s] attempts to
persuade the TRCA to withdraw from the proceeding, the TRCA
Board continued to oppose the Development. As a result, Mr. Di
Biase’s remark that the “City’s hands were tied” was inaccurate
and misleading and designed to further third-party interests. It

111C Report, page 5.
12|C Report, page 9.



should be noted that the TRCA supported, through the settlement
agreement with the parties, the principle of development, subject
to the Owner’s completion of certain studies.

In the course of my investigation, | also interviewed individuals
who had attended the relevant TRCA Board meetings and Council
meetings and provided evidence of [Mr. Di Biase’s] comments at
these meetings. Based on this evidence, | find that [Mr. Di Biase]
did misrepresent the positions of the respective organizations, for
which he held positions of significant authority [...]”

30. On May 19,2017, Mr. Di Biase resigned as a member of City Council. Mr. Di Biase’s
resignation came in response to an unrelated report from the Commissioner. As a result
of his resignation, however, the IC Report does not recommend any form of penalty or
sanction for Mr. Di Biase, since the Commissioner noted that the scope of her jurisdiction

is limited only to sitting members of City Council.

Part 2 - Scope of my Review
i. Identifying the Decision

31. Council’s Resolution calls for a review of City Council’s “decision regarding 230
Grand Trunk Avenue” as referenced in the IC Report. As such, one of the first steps in my

review was to determine precisely what “decision” was at issue.

32. As part of my retainer, City of Vaughan legal staff advised me of their initial view
that the “decision” at issue was Council’s decision at the February 21, 2017 meeting in
respect of the Second OMB Appeal. Namely, the decision to approve a report of City
planning staff which called for the approval, in principle, of the Subdivision Application
and the Zoning Application, subject to a lengthy list of technical and environmental

conditions.

10



33. This position of City of Vaughan legal staff was based on the IC Report itself. The
Commissioner emphasized in the IC Report that “the allegations and [her] findings in this
matter primarily relate to the issues raised in the [Second OMB Appeal]”.3 The IC Report
noted that “the complaint does not pivot on the actions with respect to the [First OMB
Appeal]”, but rather that the “comments and actions that are alleged in this complaint
to be in contravention of the Code of Conduct are in relation to the [Second OMB

» 14

Appeal]”.

34. At the City Council meeting on June 27, 2017, when the IC Report was presented
by the Commissioner and formally accepted by City Council, the Commissioner made
additional oral comments regarding the scope of her investigation. She noted that the
City of Vaughan Complaint Protocol for Council Code of Conduct prescribes a 6-month
time limit: specifically, section 2 provides that “all complaints must be addressed ...
within six (6) months of the alleged violation or no action will be taken on the complaint”.
In response to a question from City Council, the Commissioner stated as follows: “I did
notinvestigate the so-called first appeal, and comments around that first appeal; | cannot
make a statement that there was no substance, but | was barred by the Code Protocol

from investigating those particular allegations.”

35. Despite these statements, the IC Report also put considerable focus on events and
conduct of Mr. Di Biase that took place in the context of the First OMB Appeal, well
before the Second OMB Appeal had commenced. In particular, the allegations
surrounding the June 23, 2015 in camera meeting of City Council were clearly connected
only to the First OMB Appeal. Furthermore, the comments made at the May 2, 2016
community meeting were arguably related, at least in part, to the First OMB Appeal, even
though the meeting itself was convened in response to the Subdivision Application,

which would later become the subject of the Second OMB Appeal. Finally, the June 8,

131C Report, page 3.
141C Report, page 3.
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2016 letter from the TRCA to area residents, upon which the Commissioner relied to
conclude that Mr. Di Biase had misrepresented the position of the TRCA to City Council,*®

also focused on the First OMB Appeal.

36. | note the Commissioner’s comments regarding the limited scope of the IC Report,
and that she did not formally “investigate” the allegations surrounding the First OMB
Appeal. That said, for the purposes of my review of Council’s “decision”, | have found it
necessary to take a broader approach, by also gathering and considering information and
documents relating to the First OMB Appeal. In my view, City Council’s decision in respect
of the First OMB Appeal, namely the decision to enter into the Settlement with the
Owner, is inextricably linked with all subsequent decisions regarding the Development.

This was repeatedly confirmed by those individuals | interviewed.

37. 1 would also note that in introducing Council’s Resolution at the meeting on June

27,2017, Councillor Shefman remarked as follows:

“I've kept it broad enough to ensure that staff can look at, as wide
a parameter around decision-making as they can. We’ve already
been informed that one decision relating to that has been under
an OMB appeal, therefore we cannot address that issue, but
perhaps there are some components [...] perhaps that may be
drawn, because | want to allow the breadth of discussion.”

38. Councillor Shefman’s comments reflect an understanding that it was not within
City Council’s ability to reverse or otherwise undo the OMB’s decision in the First OMB
Appeal. It is clear to me, based on his comments and for the reasons noted above, that
any meaningful response to Council’s Resolution must consider the full factual context
of the Development, which includes matters relating to the First OMB Appeal. |
concluded that if | failed to consider the full picture, my Report would be open to the

criticism that it was too narrowly focused.

15|C Report, pages 7-9.
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39. | pause to emphasize that the scope of my review is limited only to whether Mr. Di
Biase’s conduct influenced City Council’s decision-making. Although as discussed further
below, | have also considered the possibility of indirect influence on City Council as a

result of Mr. Di Biase’s conduct with members of City staff, the TRCA, and the public.

ii. Interviews Conducted and Materials Reviewed

40. Between September 25,2017 and November 21,2017, | conducted interviews with

15 individuals:
1. City Council
i.  Mayor Maurizio Bevilacqua
ii.  Regional Councillor Mario Ferri
iii.  Regional Councillor Gino Rosati
iv.  Local Councillor Tony Carella
v.  Local Councillor Rosanna DeFrancesca

vi.  Local Councillor Marilyn lafrate

vii.  Local Councillor Sandra Yeung Racco
viii.  Local Councillor Alan Shefman
2. City Staff

i.  Anthony lacobelli, Manager of Environmental Sustainability, City of

Vaughan

ii. John MacKenzie, Deputy City Manager, Planning and Growth

Management, City of Vaughan
3. TRCA Officials

i.  Maria Augimeri, City of Toronto Councillor and Chair of the TRCA

13



ii.  Brian Denney, Chief Executive Officer, TRCA
iii.  Carolyn Woodland, Director of Planning and Development, TRCA

iv.  June Little, Senior Manager, Development Planning and Regulation,

TRCA
4. Integrity Commissioner of the City of Vaughan
i.  Suzanne Craig

41. | also extended an invitation to interview Mr. Di Biase. However, he declined my
offer, citing concerns as to the City of Vaughan’s claims of confidentiality and privilege
over information related to the OMB Appeals. Mr. Di Biase did refer me to the comments

he had provided to the Commissioner as part of her investigation.

42. The above interviews were variously conducted at Vaughan City Hall, TRCA
headquarters, Toronto City Hall, or in my office. My assistant in this review, Daniel

Dawalibi,® was present for all the above interviews.

43. In advance of the above interviews, | was provided with a package of materials by

City legal staff which included the following:

i.  Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of June 27, 2017, including the

IC Report and its appendices;

ii. Extract from Council Meeting Minutes of February 21, 2017,
specifically Item 5, Report No. 6 of the Committee of the Whole
relating to Zoning By-law Amendment File Z.16.016 and Draft Plan of
Subdivision File 19T-16V001 for the Property; and

16 Mr. Dawalibi is Legal Counsel with Arbitration Place in Toronto, where | maintain an independent arbitration and
mediation practice.
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iii. Decision of the Ontario Municipal Board dated March 9, 2016 in
respect of the First OMB Appeal (2016 CanLIl 13042).

44. Over the course of the interviews, | was also provided with additional documents
from various interviewees and the City legal staff, including minutes from other City
Council meetings and TRCA meetings. | also had the opportunity to view video recordings

of City Council’s February 21, 2017 and June 27, 2017 meetings.

Part 3 — Findings re: the Impact of any Improper Influence on City Council

45. As noted above, the scope of my review is limited only to whether Mr. Di Biase’s
conduct as found in the IC Report influenced City Council’s decision-making, and not the

decision-making of other bodies such as the TRCA or the Region of York.

46. | emphasize that contrary to what some may have anticipated, the scope of my
retainer pursuant to Council’s Resolution does not include an inquiry into all aspects of

the Development, nor to engage in a review or re-evaluation of the IC Report.

47. My review started with interviews of the members of City Council themselves, in
order to assess what impact, if any, Mr. Di Biase’s conduct may have had on their
decision-making. However as noted above, my review also considers the possibility of
indirect influence on City Council in three other respects. My findings are therefore

divided as follows:

a. Direct Influence: Whether Mr. Di Biase influenced any of his fellow

members of City Council;
b. Indirect Influence:

i. Whether Mr. Di Biase’s conduct in his capacity as Vice-Chair

of the TRCA influenced City Council;

15



ii. Whether Mr. Di Biase influenced City of Vaughan staff

members, and the planning staff in particular; and

iii. Whether Mr. Di Biase influenced members of the public.

i. Direct Influence - Members of City Council

48. Without exception, the members of City Council advised me that Mr. Di Biase had
no influence on them in respect of their decision-making related to the Development.

Nothing that Mr. Di Biase said or did swayed their decisions one way or another.

49. Rather, the Councillors affirmed that they come to their own conclusions in respect
of any given decision that is before them, including all decisions relating to the
Development. In the case of planning matters such as the Development, the Councillors
advised me that they typically receive information and recommendations from City
planning staff. When an OMB appeal is at stake, Councillors also receive advice from City

legal staff.

50. Thatsaid, despite their reliance on City staff, it is clear that members of City Council
can and often do disagree with staff recommendations, as some of them did in the case
of the First OMB Appeal decision made during the June 23, 2015 in camera meeting.
Specifically, | was advised by multiple interviewees that City Council narrowly voted at
this meeting to move forward towards the Settlement, against the recommendations of
City planning staff. Those Councillors that voted to proceed with the Settlement (a group
that included Mr. Di Biase) did so for various reasons, but | was not able to find evidence
that their reasons connected to anything that Mr. Di Biase is alleged to have said or done

as found by the Commissioner.

51. In particular, | am satisfied that Mr. Di Biase’s misrepresentation of the TRCA’s
position to City Council (as found in the IC Report) did not influence any members of City

Council. Based on the information provided to me by multiple interviewees, it is clear

16



that members of City Council did not rely on Mr. Di Biase for their information as to what

the TRCA’s position was in respect of any given development project.

52. The influence exerted — as found in the IC Report — by Mr. Di Biase at the April 5,
2016 public hearing and May 2, 2016 community meeting is also unlikely to have
impacted on the decisions of City Council. To the extent that other Councillors were
present at these meetings,!’ they may have overheard Mr. Di Biase make the comments

referenced in the IC Report such as the “City’s hands were tied”.

53. The Commissioner found that this was a misrepresentation of the City’s position.
Accepting that finding, | am nevertheless satisfied that any member of Council would
have known that it was a misrepresentation, because Mr. Di Biase’s fellow Councillors
would have understood whether the City’s hands were actually tied or not. As such, it is
highly unlikely that other members of City Council would have been influenced in this

manner.

ii. Indirect Influence - The TRCA

54. According to the information provided to me by TRCA officials, the TRCA was
surprised to learn about City Council’s decision made during the June 23, 2015 in camera

meeting to co-operate with the Owner in respect of the First OMB Appeal.

55. | was advised that in the summer of 2015, Mr. Di Biase attempted to convince his
fellow TRCA executive committee members to withdraw the TRCA from the First OMB
Appeal process. Mr. Di Biase’s efforts were unsuccessful: the executive committee
rejected his proposal, and as noted above, at the full Authority meeting on July 24, 2015,

the TRCA resolved to remain actively involved in the First OMB Appeal.

7 The May 2, 2016 community meeting in particular was not attended by all members of City Council, though
several Councillors confirmed they were in attendance.
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56. Although the TRCA ultimately entered into the Settlement with the City and the
Owner, it did so after securing commitments from the Owner to comply with the TRCA’s

various regulatory requirements.

57. Theimproper influence exerted by Mr. Di Biase at various TRCA meetings (as found

in the IC Report) could not have impacted any decision of City Council, for three reasons.

a. First, | can conclude from the information before me that no other
members of City Council were present at the relevant TRCA

meetings.18

b. Second, even if other members of Council had been at the TRCA
meetings or subsequently learned of Mr. Di Biase’s statements to the
TRCA, | find that they could not possibly have been influenced. To the
extent that Mr. Di Biase misrepresented the position of City Council
to the TRCA, other members of City Council would have known that

the statements were false and would not have been misled by them.

c. Third, itis evident that all of Mr. Di Biase’s efforts to get the TRCA to
withdraw from their involvement in the Development were
unsuccessful, so those efforts could not have had any impact on the
decisions of City Council. On the contrary, | was advised that City
Council made its decisions with the benefit of City staff describing
the TRCA’s position to City Council. | was told that the Councillors did

not rely on Mr. Di Biase to advise them of the TRCA’s position.

18 Regional Councillor Rosati was the only other member of City Council that also had a seat on the TRCA along
with Mr. Di Biase. Mr. Rosati was not on the TRCA executive committee and he was not present at the full
authority meeting on July 24, 2015.
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iii. Indirect Influence - City of Vaughan staff

58. No information was provided to me to suggest that any City of Vaughan staff
members were improperly influenced by Mr. Di Biase, nor is there any suggestion to that
effectin the IC Report. On the contrary, it is clear that City planning staff strongly advised
City Council to reject the Owner’s proposal at the June 23, 2015 meeting, a position that

would have been in opposition to Mr. Di Biase.

59. After City Council made its decision to move forward towards the Settlement, City
staff worked towards that goal, ultimately leading to the planning staff recommendation
report that City Council approved in respect of the Zoning and Subdivision Applications
at the February 21, 2017 meeting. Notably, the planning staff report that was approved
by City Council at this meeting contains a lengthy list of technical and environmental

conditions that must be satisfied by the Owner, including:

a. The implementing Zoning By-law shall be drafted to the satisfaction

of the City in consultation with the TRCA.

b. An independent third-party Peer Review shall be undertaken at the
Owner’s expense, to review the Geotechnical Report,
Hydrogeological Report, Natural Heritage Evaluation, and Functional
Servicing Reports that have been submitted by the Owner as part of
its applications, and the Peer Review shall be completed to the

satisfaction of the City in consultation with the TRCA.

iv. Indirect Influence - Members of the Public

60. The IC Report describes how Mr. Di Biase misrepresented the position of City
Council at the May 2, 2016 meeting when he stated that the “City’s hands were tied”. It

is possible that members of the public in attendance at that meeting could have been
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misled by Mr. Di Biase, and that these members of the public may have then influenced

individual members of City Council.

61. Specifically, it is possible that some area residents that otherwise would have
opposed City Council’s decisions to move forward with the Development would have
withdrawn their opposition in reliance on Mr. Di Biase’s misrepresentation that the
“City’s hands were tied”. In other words, Mr. Di Biase may have succeeded in reducing
the amount of public opposition faced by his fellow Councillors, and the positions of
these Councillors with respect to the Development could have been influenced

accordingly.

62. In my view, this hypothetical scenario is without merit. Based on the timing of the
May 2, 2016 community meeting, the only decision of City Council that may have been
influenced is the February 21, 2017 adoption of the planning report to conditionally
approve the Owner’s Zoning and Subdivision Applications. City Council’s decision at the
June 23, 2015 in camera meeting pre-dates any conduct of Mr. Di Biase as found in the

IC Report, which may have influenced members of the public.

63. Itis clear to me — both from the comments of multiple interviewees and from my
review of the relevant documents — that public opposition to the Development at the
time of the February 21, 2017 meeting, despite any efforts on the part of Mr. Di Biase,
remained very strong. | was advised by multiple members of City Council that they were
aware of this opposition, but City Council nevertheless voted 8-1 to approve the planning

staff report and move forward with the Development.

64. City Council’s reasons for voting this way in the face of significant public opposition
are again, varied. Some Councillors who opposed the initial decision to approve the
Settlement in June 2015 ultimately voted in favour of proceeding with the Development
in February 2017. They did so not because of a lack of public opposition, but rather

because they viewed that the “ship had sailed” with the OMB’s decision on the First OMB
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Appeal. With the Property having been re-designated by the OMB in the Official Plan, it
only made sense to defer to planning staff’s recommendations to bring the draft plan of
subdivision and zoning by-law in line with the Official Plan. As indicated above, the
planning staff report that was approved by City Council in February 2017 contains a
lengthy list of technical and environmental conditions that must be satisfied by the

Owner.

65. With that factual context in mind, | am therefore satisfied that Mr. Di Biase did not
indirectly influence any members of City Council through his statements to members of

the public in respect of the Development.

Conclusion

66. As indicated at the outset of this Report, based on my analysis of all the
information gathered during my review, | conclude that any improper influence exerted
by Mr. Di Biase (as found in the IC Report) did not impact the decisions of City Council in

respect of the Development.

Dated the 23" day of January, 2018

The Honourable Robert P. Armstrong, Q.C.
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